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FIRST GERMAN LUTHERAN CHUROCH AND HER DAUGHTERS

4 mother and her child, that oicture has often been ussd o
cannaté the close love, the intimate relationship that exists
between parents and childran.  And sometimes the relationship
between mother and child is just thot, love and intimacy. Sad-
ly, however, sometimes the onnoosite is ftrue. At times & mother
and her child go seperate ways.

In some ways churches are like zezople. They produce offspring.
A part of them forms the nucleus of an entirely seprerste congregs-
tion. When sieaking of churches, thete can be a mother-daughter
relationship. At times this can be a mutuslly rewarding relation-
ship involving love and resnect. At other times this can als:
be a relstionship gone swry. Communication is cut off. Hos-
tility emerges. 111 feelings disolay their ugly heads.

This is indeed the case with First German Lutheran Church in
Manitowoco, Wisconsine. Filrst German Lutheran Church is unusual.
It's date of incorperation, 1855, mskes 1t unuswal due to age;
its prominent role in early synodiczl history makes it unuse-
val historically; its prestinious and important pastors mskes
it uvnusual in the gifts the Lord has given to her. But none of
these things are what this writer has in mind. Yhat makes
First German very very unusual is that she is a mother. Dur-
ing her 125 years of grace, First German Lutheran Church has
spawned all of the other Manitowoc church:is. They are three
in number: Immanuel, the eldest; Grace, born out of necessity;
and Bethany, the baby of the three. These three children tot-

al nesrly 3200 souls in membership, boast two Christian Day



Schools  and owe their existence to Ff@ﬁst German.

It is the purpose of this paper io examine First Berman
Evangelical Lutheran Church of Manitowoc znd her daughters.
In this DUPQDSE we will look at how she gave them their starts
and how she was able to nive thew their starts. We will al-

s0 explore opossible reasons why for the most nart the age of

motherhond has ended for the churches of the WELS.

with the exception of Eve, all mothers we e and are Shessslves
daughters., So it is with First Serman. In 1846 Carl F. Goldam-
mer entered the Rhenish Mission House =t Erlangen, Germany to
train for a mission ministry among the Germans of America. Af-
ter completion of this course, the now Pastsr Goldemmer received

4.

to Manitowoc County, Wisconsine In a let:e

s

and accent=2d a call

dated Jsnuary 15, 1851 and writtsn to the wission socisty From
b 3

Miluzukee, Goldscmezr explained how $his fransnired:
Until now I have experi-oncedmuch, presched here and
there, wsas force=d to leave large fields where either

a shnemaker or sectarians were gsining enterence.

Ch, it is & pity no one cares ab-ut our German peo-

nle. Laszt Monday I accepted a call to #anitowoc.

They hqve oroanized a Lutheran Conpgrenztion because
Pastor Goldamer doesn't specifica’ly state just where in Man-
itowoc his new charge was. Actuslly it wss not in Manitowoe at
all but in nearby Town Newtnnburg. This congregation, still in

existence today--5t. Johs's of Newtonburg, is the mother of the

Manitowoc ares churches, including First German. In 1548, Pag-

1This letter found in Germany in 1948, 1t is included in
First German's centennisl booklet.



tor Goldammor bengan services in the village of Manitowoc 1tself.

Geino tha only German spesking minister in Manitownc, he attrac-
= = 3

d not only those members of his Newt-nburg flock who resided

ot
0

he
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aroner, but also a number of strictly German He-

ct

in
formed, whom he ssrved with no compunctions in the union style so
comman to soms German mission spocietie In the spring of 1833,
this little nrzup in Manitowos purchased land for a church to be
uilt im the near future under thz nzme, "United Lutheran and

fvanselical Church of the Vill=age of HManitowno, Wisconsin.”  aAnd

-

Lutheran Church. The name

o
—

so beaan First German Evanoslics

T

chanaed several times until the church finally was incorporated
under her present name in 1860. The confessinonal stance of the
ngreaation was given hackbones by Goldammer's successor, Pastor

Phillip Koehler. Sut despite the changes, 5t. John-Newtonburg's
dzughter came of age as a church in her own right.
First German's motherhood h2gins with the pasiorate of Rev.

Farl Machmiller who was ins’'alled on farch 25, 15897 Undzr

=

1l

stor Machmiller, First German experienced steady 1f not phe-
naminal growth, benan a school znd felt the panngs of growing
pains. The steady growth of the congregztion and the burden,
however jovful, of ministering to 81l the German Lutherans in
Manitownc, became too much for one nastor to besr. Gradually the
plan of gorpganizing a diughter congresstion on Manitowoc's north
side materialized. In}j923 annual meeting, the congregation de-
cided to call an assistant pastor.

On May L4, 1924, a Seminary Candidate, Theophil Uetzmann was

issued a divine call %o be the assistant pastor of First German
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"who was tﬂAﬂrk primarily on the northside with the Juroose in

. - C s . s 2
mind of grganizing s daunhiter congreogation,” HFastor Uestzmann

-

served First Serman us an a8ssistant

m
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zstir from July 19, 1923
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(ordination and instzllation dase) until Harch 1927, ouring the
interim, nlans far the new conaregsation razidly took shape. A
committes was formed tn study possible sitzs for land acguisition
for the nesw church znd school. On July 22, 1924, an option was
taken on eight lo*s on i“anitowcc's northside. These lots were
later ourchased for $6400.

First Cerman now turned her atiention to oraviding s worshin
home for her soon to be daughter. Plans w-re drswn up far a
church and school and oledges were received in the tatal of
556,888.85 to cover the cost of the structuré. It soon became
evident to the church fathers that the privilege of decision con-
cerning the building ought to reside with those northside par-
l1shioners who eventually would comarise the memberstiino of the new

church. Zn April 28, 1926, fority nine men adonted a constitution,

ki

1

signed it, called Pastor Uetzmann as nastor znd selected the name
Immanuel Evangelical Lutheran Church for the new congrenation.
To this oroup, thednount of money collected for bullding was
turned over. The namber of transferred members grew fram the
original forty nine families till at the time of dedication it
totaled 140 familiese.

With the new congregation legally incorporated, church

construction progressed rapidly. On July 10, 1927, Immanuel

ZMinutes of the Dec. 2, 1923 annual voter's meeting



Evangelical Lutheran Church dedicated 1ts new church and par-
sonage. 0On dedicz2tion Sunday, Immanuel congregation numbered 455
souls, 327 communicants and represented 158 families; 140

of those families tﬁﬁsferred from First German. Her debt was
small due to the generosity of the mother church. The labor
pains were over. The oldest dsughter was walking by herself.
Subserquent history records a cleft between mother and daugh-

tar due to the "?ratesgént Movement", but that is another

stoTy.

fis concerns the birth of her next tuo daunhters First Ger-
man may allenorically be said to have bezn oregnant with twins.
Althouoh both Bzthany and Srace received assistance from First
German at Toughly the same time, they came into being at differ-
ent times. Chron®lonicslly, planning for 3ethany begsn at an
even earTlier date (d939) then did that for Grace (1940). How-
gver, hecause Grace was established as an indegendant congrega-
tion sooner, we will nzxt arocesd with har story.

As early as 1932, problems heasan to develop within Immanuel
congregation. For certain reasons which %o him seemed commanding,
Pastor Theophil Uestzmann joined a grouo of aastors protesting
certain actions within the Wisconsin Synod. In 1938, these pro-

. ) 7
testing pastors, called ﬁPrDtastants" were susnended from fellow-
ship in the YELS. The wajority of Immanusl sunnorted Pastor
Uetzmann. However fifty fanilies severed their membershin from
Immanuel Lutheran Church. Part of that nroup solicited service
from the Lutheran Church-Missouri Synnd and becane Redeemer

Luthzran Church. The other part of the groun remained within the



Wisconsin 5yned =nd formed the nucleus of what lster was to become
Grace Evangelicszl Church.

On Aunust 4, 1940, a small group of worshipers were address-
ed by Pastor Walter Pankow, president of the Northern Wiscon-
sin District-WELS. Appropriately enough his sermon began with
the words "Fear not 1ittle flock." The 1little flock faced almost
insurmountaile obstacles, First they were indeed #VETV small
flock, mostly members who had seaerated themselves from Imman-
vel beczuse of her Synod susoension. In addition, part of those
who withdrew from Immanuel hzd begun a church affiliated with
the LCHS., Could this area, which formerly had been adeguately
served by aone church, now supiort three?

0n Septesber 19, 1940, thirteen men met in a private home
and sinned the following simple resolution:

e, the unterzigned, desire Lo organize temporarily

as @n Zvangnlical Lutheran Songregation and have

services in our midst. As vacancy aastor, we czll

Pastor dalter Klzinke.!

Grace congregation, although not yet known by that name, was born.
She numbersd 34 communicants and 6 baptized children.

A week later, ©the members of the new congregation met with
trhe Board of Trustees of First German Evangelical Lutheran
Church. First German expressed her supnnort of this little grounp
but because of her own involvement with the west side mission
(Beth=ny), advised the oroup to turn for assistance to the
Synod. 0On October 2, 1940, a meeting with synodical ofiicials
oroduced a oledge to aid the strugngling congregation as a WELS
mission. That same day a call was extended to Dr. Henry Koch

who was then teaching at Concordia, Bronxville, New York.
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The call wzs accepted and Dr. FKoch wss installed as the first
resident pastor on Decembher 1.

For some time the small congregation had held services at
the Lincoln Park field house. By April 30, the congregation
had grown to 75 communicants and was in desperate need of its
ouwn house of worship., But here a snag in synodical assistance
develoned. Funds for land acguisition and chapel construction
were not available., The Church Extension Funds of the Synod
were frozen;

Now First German, the mother congragstion, enters the
picture. With no synodical Funds available to her, Grace con-
gregation turned to the southside for help. It was estimated
that $15,000 would be needed for thz building nrogram desired
and needed. Grace asked the mother church o underwrite the
entire project. First German answered in a letter dated
July 12, 1941 (cf. apzendix 1 for a conoy):

Be 1t resolved that our council meet with the council

of the North side Immanue=l Congregsation(Wis. Synod)

and that ways and means of providing assistance be work-

ed aut by the two boards, but that it be along the

lines of the fifteen points recommended by the hoard.

(cf. appendix 2 for a cooy of the fifteen points).

Boiled down, First German pledged to loan at a low rate of intrest
to Grace the amount of 312,000-~Grace raising $3000 on her owne.

With the necessary funds at her disnosal, Grace moved quicke-
ly. Land was bought, the building designed and on the cold
morning of January 4, 1942--a diary entry records the temper-
ature as -10 F.--the cornerstone was laid. By April the structure
was completed and on May 3, 1942, Grace Evangelical Lutheran Church

dedicasted her house of worship. Pastor L. Koeninger, pastor of
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First German preached the dedicatory sermon. First German's
second daunhter shd taken her first wobbly stzns and stood
by herself.

As we said before, First German already had other irons in
the fire. Her #id to Grace had been of necessity. Her beginning
of Bethzny was by design. As early as 1939, nlans were in the
offing %to estahlish é mission in the rapidly expanding west side
of Manitowoc. As the history of Bethany Lutheran Church outs
it: "The bEginning of the present congregation was through the for-
sight and guidance ~f the late Rev. L. H. ¥oeninger and the con-
gregation of tﬁe First German Evangelical Lutheran GChurch of Mani-
towoc."

After a short search for land, property was purchaszd in late
1940. A chapzl which could later serve as a school was built
and on April 20, 1841, services were held for the first time
conducted by the pastors of First German, the Rev. Lvyle Koen-
inger and the Rev. Armin Roekle who also taught in the Chris-
tian Day School. For two years the West Side Mission, as Beth-
'any was then known, existed as a preaching station of First Ger-
man .

On October 17, 1943, First German called a meeting af the
cmngregatiunvfor the purpose of establishing an independent con-
gregation on the mést side of town. Attendance of about 200
showed the interest in such an endezavar. Then in the regular
annual voter's me=ting of December3, 1943, First German reached
the following decisions: 1) 58 Families were granted a neace-
ful release to establish the West Side Lutheran Chirch--effective
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January 1, 19443 2) First German would contribute fipancial
agsistance to the new congregation in exchange for Pastor
Roekle teaching in the Christian Day School till the end of
the school year--50% of “is sslary for every half dazy taunght
and 75% of his salary For every full day's teachinge-and First
German would return tn Hethiny whatsver the members of the 58
families to bz released hzd contributed in of erings for that
year; 3) Pzastor Roskle woold be granted @ relesase o assume
duties of u=st 5ide Lutheran Dhurch.

On Jznuzry 1, 1944, Bethany Lvanogelical Lutheran Church was
born @s an indenpendsnt congregation. Fastor Roekle, First Ger-
man's zssistant pastor, was called as the first pastor. Rev;
KFoeninger installed Reve Roekle who in turn installed the
courch council. And Bethany stood by herself,

Bﬁt First Berman's‘generosity was not yet finished. In
a special meeting of February 4, 1944, First German agreed to
sell to Bethany the nronerty she occupied, For property valued
at %15,656, Bethany ould pay only $11,000; $1000/vear plus in-
terest. In addition, First German's Christian Day School would
be open to the use of Bethany's children at no cost for as long
as needed. Under these gen=rous conditions, Bethany was enabled
to exist from the beginning as an independant self-supmoriing
congregation.

Pl o+

So ends the history. These are the facts. In about twenty
years First German mothered three Wisconsin Synod daughter con-

gregations. GShe released from her own membership to form these



congregations a total of 198 families. She underwurote their expens-
es to the tune of over §86,000, ¥56,000 of which were outright
nifts and were never repaid., 5She sent two af her assistant pastors
to these churches as “heir first resident ministers--Pastor
Uetzmann to Immanuel =nd Pastor Roekle to Bethany. In addition
to this, she lost from her own financial supnort the offerings of
those 198 families. These are the facts; the question which
instantly arises is how could she do it? How could First
German release well over 403 people, Jut herself in debt in
uncertain times and yet remain strong and solvent herself?
How could she release two of hsr own pastors for these congregations
and yet szrve her own people adequately?

Ferhaps the snswer in part lies with the shepherds with which
the Lord blessed this congregation. The founding pastor of
First German perhaps set the tone for all to follow. Rev. Golde-
ammer wis a man afire with mission zesl., Whersver there were
Christians who needed to be served, there he served them. At one
time during his ministry, Pastor Goldammer served eight congre-
gations simultanenusly. It was during the pastorste of Pastor

Karl Machmiller that First German first became a mother. Although

not expressly stiated, the church records strongly indicate that
the impetus far the beginning of Immanuel on the north side came
from Pastor Machmiller. He was the shepherd who led his flock
to realize that a daughter wass really :he only proner soclution
to the problem of too many people for one man to serve. Also
notice something very unusual. In preparation for the beginning
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of Immanuel, First German called Pastor Uetzmann expressly to the
work of organizing a daughter.

"The beginning of the present congregation was through the
Fdresight and guidance of the Reverend L.H. HKoeninger." The
author of thosz words from the detailed history of Bethany kneuw,
humanly speaking, where the credit la y for that congregationts
beginnings. After the retirement of Pastor Mabhmiller in 1928,
Pastor L. MHoeninger assumed the pastorate of First German.

After such a moment~us effort as the founding of Immanuel, both in
people and funds, one would think that First German would have rest-
ed on her laurels. VYet about ten years later, in 1939, plans

were being made to begin the work on the west side. According

to the September 9, 1943 church council minutes, Pastor Foen-

inger announceduwhat he called "a distributipn of cards at the west
side to organize a congregation there." Just what this distri-
bution of cards was is unclear., It may have been some sort

of canvass of Manitowoc's west side. But it is clear that Pas-

tor Moeninger playved a leading role.

As concerns the financial part of First German's role in the
support of these three daughter congregations, there may be sev-
eral reasons why she was able to be so generous. First, the
$56,000 gift to Immanuel was the result of a fund drive and pri-
vate pledges. Although her people may be commended for their
generosity, as a congregation First German did not play a part
and did not pay out a cent. Therefore this amount should not
be included in any explanation., And while $56,000 in the econ=-

omy of 1527 is a great deal of money, this writer witnessced a
11



%10,000 sinnle day Thanksgiving offering from a congrepation that
is much smaller than First German was at that time.

First German did, however, chonse to indebt herself nearly
530,000 to underwurite expenses @t Crace and Bethany and that with-
in a four year pericd. This is a leap of faith since it did not
directly benefit the home congregstion. How could First German
afford it? There are several snswers. HManitowoc Lutheran High
School wss not yet in existance, thersby. eliminating the costly

Alsgo

oy

sunport of that institution from First Garman's budget. A

First German, according to records, did not hsve a unified bud-

get. While specific numhers were unavsilshle, it may be surmised
that whatever offerings were esrmarked for synodical support were

used for that, and whatever was not was used for local projects.
Then if 2 local nroject insoired much zeal, there in all likely-

hood would be money to support it.

At one time, daughter conoregations were commonplace. It «
seems that it was understood that once a large congregation be-
camez too large for one man, that concregation would begin a
daughter in an area with a concentration of her membership. But
nom,'daughter congrenations in the true sense of the word are fow
and far between. Why does it seem that the golden age of mother-
hood has en@ed for our larger WELS churches? To atiemat to
answer that guestion, this writer will express his own opinions.
He by no means claims to be expert nor is he indictlng anyone,
either congrepstion or syned. With that disclaimer, whzt are

the nossible reazons for the end of motherhood in our WELD churches?



It is fair to say that the chief ohstacle to beginning a
daughter congregstion is financial. This same sentiment was
expressed Lo me by a pastor of a large congregation who des-
perately wish=zd to get s daughter started to relieve a problem
of too many pensle for too smell of a physical plant. The
GBHM stutes its and synods's policizs as concaerns dsunhter con-
oregations:

A daughter cangregation is ~one esteblishesd by a self-

suptnTting crengregation or grous of congregations foo

which th2 mother congregation(s) assumes total finan-

cial resnonsibility, both as to opnerating subsidy snd

canital funding, until the dauohter conoregstion is

fully self-supporting. It is a firm GBHY policy that

1t will exnend no mission funds nor invest CEFmoney

for s congregation begun without nrior approval af the

GBHM. Where synodical funding is committed by the GBHM

for the presegt of the future, there is no true daughter

congregation. '

Faced with the prospects of footing the entire bill for a mission
endeavor, including the cost of land acguisition and chapel with-
out CEF funds available--and this when many congregations are hav-
ing difficulties meeting their own budgets-- it is a small won-
der that any congregation would venture to be a mothere.

Hand in hand with the unavailahilty of synod money for daugh-
ter congregations goes the ever increasing demands on the con-
gregational budget. Most congregations large enough to consider
a daughter support a Christian Day School, Many are the finan-
cial pillars behind the area Lutheran high school. Add to that
WLOFS, Wisconsin Lutheran College, synod pension and health in-
surance plus their own home ne=ds and an already stretched dollar
snaps. The Lutheran high school and many other agencies are of

fairly recent origin. During the days of the daughters, ®hey were
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not factors that needed to be considered.

S5ince synod has disavowed support for the daughter congre-
gations and has stepped up her own home mission efforts, there
ié‘Dr at least szems to be an attitude of "let synod do 1t."
When dsughter congregations were the only mission work actively
pursued, then the mothers nut in the effort. Now however,
synod is active in home missions and this writer feels that the

attitude of many & possible mother is "let synod da it."

Is the age of motherhood over? Has it like clerical black
fpr 8 pastor's clothes cessed to be? It is the hope and praye-
gr of this writer theat such is not the case. If First German
is a fitting example, then daughter congregstions can blossom besw
yond all dreams. Today First German consists of nearly 1600
souls. Her daughters are almost as large: Bethany-1400 souls;
Immanuel-1100 souls;.Grace-~ 600 souls. It is a fair assumption
that not all thesz people would today be members of First German.
Daughter congregations facilitate mission work. UWhat is the
answer Lo the problems that face our larger congregations? 1
don't know, This writer leaves that answer to someone much
more experienced, much more expert, and much wiser. But it is
his prayer that some way of bringing about synodical and con-
gregational cooperation may a&gain bring abmgt motherhood in our

WELS churches.
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8TH AND MARBHALL STREETS
MANlTOWOC WISCONSIN

L. H. KOENINGER, Paston

'1'1mnou*m-'rns'mzs~r. ) : - : . ‘, _ | Lo July 120 1941

Imm&nuel sv.‘uutn. uongre tlon.
. "“of the Wis. Synod. ¢ -
dunrtowoc ﬁisconbin

Dear Jcmbere of the uongxegutlon.

We wish to adviSeeyou of'thes-actlon talzen at our
last quurterly mesting on June &, regarding your

- request for assistoncs in the purchasing ol lots.
aud e*ec»ion wf 8 08w enurcn 'alldiﬂg. R
Gur C”QQ:e?atlon at 1i& meet 1ﬂ pau%ua the f01~,
lowing resolution:: C

Be It Rasolved that our council meed with
the council of the Horth sidse lumanusls
.o Gonpeegntion (Wis. Synod) snd thet wuys
e and means of Droviding that asgistance be
‘ ' f¥~woM4ud out by ithe: t»o Doaxds, wab that ¢t
béhlong the iinesiof the fiftaen Ddlﬂ*J
“‘recommeuded'hy the board. ﬂf

‘Yo have al*eaﬁy baen in¢ormed o* tae conuenua of‘”f
'{these Lointe.nu,_, o o : R

7o hops it we uny have n sarly reply) wnd th&t“”
'arranzements fox a joinu meetling of‘the two boards

Eixst'cexman v, quth. Church

v .

S e e
R ' . B, H. Wask
T - % Secretary
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We'andorse the proposition of the North Side KMission (the
‘Immanuelts Ev. Luth, Church of the Wils. Synod) of crccting
a church home, the totsl cost not to exceed ‘LS 000,00,

S We shall stand reszdy toJoanathe NS Mission En amount not to
’ exceed four-fifths of the total amount of the property, end
hold the deed and mortgege to the- property. .

The Ne Se Mi@sion shell ‘be held to pay interest on the amount
&t the seme rate which we must pay to secure the money, nd
efter the first year shall be held to reduce the prlncipal
anuunllyg the Qmount of redustion to be flxed by agreement

ter the N8 Misuion owns oné half the rroperty they shall
_be given the deed and ‘this conéregation shall be gilven &
mortgage for hhe balance due us. - However, we shall expect.
the mission to refinance end assune full reqponsibllity as ¢
soon as. po=smble., o _ B A ,

The NS ﬁlssion shall be obllgdted to- pay for the upkeep,
_rupuirs, inqurnnce, etc., of the prOperty, ' -

Our €hurch Board Shull anprove locbtion, type und plan of
building, 2nd ealso the constitution. of the con&regation,.‘

7. The Lission shsll be held to join the “v. Lutherun Joint
Synod of hlbconsin cnd Other utatcs. _

8. The Mission Shall be held, if its labors shall have our
endorsement, to consider a parish school as “art of 1ts
con&reaational activities. e L o

Q. The Mission shall at all tims cooperéte”with‘this éongre—
gation’ 1n cchocl matters, o R .

10, The ¥ission shall urge its children to abhend our pprish
school ‘wntil it has its own, . ; ,J_EEWA

11, W e shall offer the’ free ase of” our school to the Wission
*or dt least one year. _ A

12. %s scon &s the-Mission.f&els Atself financially able tnqy
shall offertochear;or-asssoon-as this: congregation ghall’
feel the burden too-heavy, they may request the Mission to: .
beqr its commensvrate shzre of ‘the upkeep of our~ parish schooi,»
e
134 The Wission Shall entertuin the idea of opening & p&rlsh
school’ as soon zs& posgsible, beginning with the lower grades.

T 14, This® goes not exclude that idea of a consolidatéd schoolsnf
£ maY'beagiVen luter consiaeraticn, e

15. The Cnur0h CQMmcil qhall bé and hcrewith,is uuthoriged to
borrow sufficlent monies to carry out the above point two.




REFERENCES

Bethany Evangelical Lutheran Church, Manitowoes: church records

First German Evangelical Lutheran Church, Manitowoo: centennial
booklet and church records

General Board for Home Missions, Home Mission Handbook. 1980,

Grace Evangelipal Lutheran Church, Manitowor: 25 anniversary bookled
pos ¥

Immanuel Evangelical Lutheran Church, Manitowoo: 25 anniversary
hooklet



